THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME: Definition and Dietary Approaches to Treatment

Gerald M. Reaven

Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, California 94305; email: greaven@cvmed.stanford.edu

Key Words hyperinsulinemia, cardiovascular disease, dietary carbohydrate, dietary fat, weight loss

■ **Abstract** The ability of insulin to stimulate glucose disposal varies at least sixfold in apparently healthy individuals, and approximately one-third of the population that is most resistant to this action of insulin is at greatly increased risk to develop a number of adverse clinical outcomes. Type 2 diabetes occurs when insulin resistant individuals are unable to secrete enough insulin to compensate for the defect in insulin action, and this was the first clinical syndrome identified as being related to insulin resistance. Although the majority of insulin-resistant individuals are able to maintain the level of compensatory hyperinsulinemia needed to prevent the development of a significant degree of hyperglycemia, the combination of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia greatly increases the likelihood of developing a cluster of closely related abnormalities and the resultant clinical diagnoses that can be considered to make up the insulin resistance syndrome (IRS). Since being overweight/obese and sedentary decreases insulin sensitivity, it is not surprising that the prevalence of the manifestations of the IRS is increasing at a rapid rate. From a dietary standpoint, there are two approaches to attenuating the manifestations of the IRS: (a) weight loss to enhance insulin sensitivity in those overweight/obese individuals who are insulin resistant/hyperinsulinemic; and (b) changes in macronutrient content of diets to avoid the adverse effects of the compensatory hyperinsulinemia. This chapter will focus on defining the abnormalities and clinical syndromes that compose the IRS and evaluating the dietary changes that can ameliorate its adverse consequences.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	392
DEFINITION OF THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME (IRS)	393
Differentiation from the Metabolic Syndrome	393
Abnormalities and Clinical Syndromes Associated with Insulin Resistance	394
IMPROVING INSULIN SENSITIVITY WITH WEIGHT LOSS	396
Weight Loss Can Improve Insulin Sensitivity	397
How to Identify Overweight/Obese Individuals Who Will Benefit the	
Most from Weight Loss	397
Insulin-Resistant Individuals Can Lose Weight	398

Benefits of Weight Loss in Insulin-Resistant Overweight/Obese Individuals	398
EFFECT OF VARIATIONS IN MACRONUTRIENT CONTENT ON	
THE MANIFESTATIONS OF THE INSULIN-RESISTANCE SYNDROME	399
Variations in Amount of Fat and Carbohydrate	399
Variations in the Kind of Carbohydrate	401
SUMMARY	402

INTRODUCTION

The aim of this chapter is to consider the role that changes in the amount and kind of calories consumed can play in attenuating the manifestations of the insulin resistance syndrome (IRS). Prevalence of the adverse clinical consequences of the IRS is growing rapidly in parallel with worldwide increases in body weight, and successful weight loss in overweight/obese individuals can moderate the abnormalities and clinical syndromes associated with insulin resistance (9, 26, 30, 35, 37, 42, 45, 56, 58). However, weight loss is difficult to achieve, and not all overweight/obese individuals are insulin resistant (1, 35, 37, 39). Thus, a major goal of this review is to define the relationship between excess adiposity, insulin resistance, and the IRS, as well as to offer suggestions to help identify those overweight/obese individuals who will benefit the most from weight loss.

Although weight loss of 5%–10% of initial body weight can enhance insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese individuals who are insulin resistant, not all of the abnormalities in these individuals return to the levels seen in insulin-sensitive individuals (35, 37). Furthermore, normal-weight individuals are not all insulin sensitive, nor are they spared from developing manifestations of the IRS (1, 39). Fortunately, the therapeutic benefits of dietary intervention in insulin-resistant persons are not limited to decreasing total caloric intake, and evidence is reviewed showing that clinically useful changes can also occur in insulin-resistant individuals by changing the macronutrient composition of isocaloric diets. In contrast to weight loss, which both enhances insulin sensitivity and lowers plasma insulin concentrations, variations in the relative proportion of macronutrients in the diet have little, or no, effect on insulin-mediated glucose disposal. However, by modifying the level of circulating insulin required to maintain glucose homeostasis in insulin-resistant individuals, variations in diet composition have the ability to either accentuate, or attenuate, the manifestations of the IRS.

Based on the general considerations outlined above, the remainder of this chapter (a) describes the abnormalities and clinical syndromes associated with insulin resistance (the IRS); (b) defines the relationship between excess adiposity and insulin resistance, and outlines approaches to identify those overweight/obese individuals who will benefit the most from weight loss; and (c) explains why the usual recommended "prudent" diet based on replacing saturated fat (SF) with carbohydrate (CHO) will have adverse consequences in individuals with the IRS. Although implicit in the discussion to this point, it should be explicitly stated that

only experimental results obtained in human beings are considered in addressing the issues outlined above.

DEFINITION OF THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME (IRS)

Differentiation from the Metabolic Syndrome

Sensitivity to insulin-mediated glucose disposal varies widely in the population at large (61). When insulin-resistant individuals cannot maintain the degree of hyperinsulinemia needed to overcome the defect in insulin action, type 2 diabetes develops (46). Although the vast majority of individuals can sustain the level of compensatory hyperinsulinemia needed to maintain normal or near-normal glucose tolerance, this philanthropic effort on the part of the pancreatic beta cell is a mixed blessing. The combination of insulin resistance and compensatory hyperinsulinemia prevents the development of frank hyperglycemia, but greatly increases the risk of having some degree of glucose intolerance, a high plasma triglyceride (TG) and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) concentration, and essential hypertension (46). In 1988, it was proposed that individuals displaying this cluster of abnormalities associated with insulin resistance/compensatory hyperinsulinemia were at significantly increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (46). Because the importance of insulin resistance and associated abnormalities as CVD risk factors was not widely appreciated at that time, the cluster of associated abnormalities was subsumed under the rubric of syndrome X.

Since the introduction of the concept of syndrome X, considerable information has evolved relevant to the role of insulin resistance in human diseases. This has resulted in two somewhat disparate approaches to thinking about the clinical implications of insulin resistance and its consequences. One view recognizes that the abnormalities related to insulin resistance have broadened considerably, and the adverse clinical outcomes extend beyond type 2 diabetes and CVD. Because CVD is recognized to be just one of the multiple clinical syndromes associated with insulin resistance, it seems appropriate to replace the term syndrome X with one that more aptly deals with this new information. In this context, the IRS seems to be a logical choice to provide a pathophysiological construct with which to view the different abnormalities and clinical syndromes that occur more commonly in insulin-resistant individuals.

During a period when the number of abnormalities and clinical syndromes related to insulin resistance was expanding rapidly, the cardiological community acknowledged the importance of this defect in insulin action as increasing CVD risk with the report of the Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) of the National Cholesterol Education Program (12). The ATP III recognized the importance of CVD risk factors of what they referred to as a "constellation of lipid and nonlipid risk factors of metabolic origin," designated this cluster as the metabolic syndrome,

TABLE 1 ATP III^a criteria for diagnosing the metabolic syndrome^b

Abdominal obesity

Men: waist circumference >40 inches Women: waist circumference >35 inches

Fasting glucose ≥110, <126 mg/dl

Blood pressure ≥130/80 mm Hg

Triglycerides ≥150 mg/dl

High-density lipoprotein cholesterol

Men <40 mg/dl Women <50 mg/dl

and stated, "This syndrome is closely related to insulin resistance." Table 1 lists the five criteria selected by the ATP III with which to diagnose the metabolic syndrome. Other than the inclusion of abdominal obesity, the abnormalities selected by the ATP III are those initially proposed to comprise syndrome X, and these choices reflect their view that insulin resistance is at the root of the problem. On the other hand, the stated purpose of the ATP III is to provide criteria to make a clinical diagnosis of the metabolic syndrome, not to provide a physiological construct to explain why insulin resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals are at increased CVD risk.

Put more explicitly; in contrast to the physiological construct underlying the IRS, the metabolic syndrome is aimed at providing the means to make a clinical diagnosis. Whether or not this effort will prove to be of clinical benefit remains to be seen, but because of its broader construct, the focus of this chapter is on the IRS.

Abnormalities and Clinical Syndromes Associated with Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance is not a disease unto itself, but a physiological abnormality that increases the likelihood that one or more of the abnormalities listed in Table 2 will be present. Furthermore, because these abnormalities occur more commonly in insulin-resistant individuals, these individuals are at increased risk to develop the clinical syndromes listed in Table 3. However, the relationship between insulin resistance and the changes listed in Tables 2 and 3 is complicated, and the abnormalities and clinical syndromes can occur in the absence of insulin resistance. It must also be emphasized that insulin-resistant individuals do not necessarily develop any of the clinical syndromes listed in Table 3.

^a Adult Treatment Panel III of the National Cholesterol Education Program.

^bThe metabolic syndrome is present when three or more of the five criteria are met.

TABLE 2 Abnormalities associated with insulin resistance/ compensatory hyperinsulinemia

- Some degree of glucose intolerance
 - Impaired fasting glucose
 - Impaired glucose tolerance
- Dyslipidemia
 - ↑ Triglycerides
 - ↓ HDL-C
 - ↓ LDL-particle diameter (small, dense LDL particles)
 - ↑ Postprandial accumulation of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins
- · Endothelial dysfunction
 - ↑ Mononuclear cell adhesion
 - ↑ Plasma concentration of cellular adhesion molecules
 - ↑ Plasma concentration of asymmetric dimethylarginine
 - ↓ Endothelial-dependent vasodilatation
- · Procoagulant factors
 - ↑ Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
 - ↑ Fibrinogen
- · Hemodynamic changes
 - ↑ Sympathetic nervous system activity
 - ↑ Renal sodium retention
- · Markers of inflammation
 - ↑ C-reactive protein, white blood cell count, etc.
- · Abnormal uric acid metabolism
 - ↑ Plasma uric acid concentration
 - ↓ Renal uric acid clearance
- Increased testosterone secretion (ovary)
- Sleep-disordered breathing

HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.

TABLE 3 Clinical syndromes associated with insulin resistance

- Type 2 diabetes
- · Cardiovascular disease
- Essential hypertension
- Polycystic ovary syndrome
- Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease
- Certain forms of cancer
- Sleep apnea

The focus of this chapter does not permit an extensive discussion of the complex relationship between insulin resistance, compensatory hyperinsulinemia, and the abnormalities and clinical syndromes that make up the IRS, but an extensive review of these issues has recently been published (51). However, it is important to briefly address the question of differential tissue insulin sensitivity, for if this phenomenon did not exist, there would be no IRS. The ability of insulin to stimulate muscle glucose uptake and inhibit free fatty acid (FFA) release from the adipose tissue is highly correlated (3), and the similar degree of insulin resistance in these two tissues initiates the series of events that leads to the abnormalities and clinical syndromes listed in Tables 2 and 3. There are many instances of this phenomenon, but the following three should suffice to make the point. Perhaps the most important example is the relationship between muscle, adipose tissue, and liver. Daylong increases in plasma insulin (muscle insulin resistance) and FFA (adipose tissue insulin resistance) concentrations act upon a liver that is insulin sensitive to stimulate hepatic TG synthesis (44, 53). One consequence of these events will be an increase in hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)-TG synthesis and secretion, leading to hypertriglyceridemia, while at the same time there will be a tendency for the fat content of the liver to increase, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease to develop. The kidney is another example of an organ that retains normal insulin sensitivity in the presence of muscle and adipose tissue insulin resistance (48), and the compensatory hyperinsulinemia increases renal sodium retention and decreases uric acid clearance, thus contributing to the increased prevalence of essential hypertension and higher plasma uric acid concentrations in individuals with the IRS. The third example is polycystic ovary syndrome, in which the hyperinsulinemia in insulin-resistant women acts on an ovary, which may even be hypersensitive to the ability of insulin to increase testosterone secretion (11). Indeed, the compensatory hyperinsulinemia that prevents the development of type 2 diabetes in insulin-resistant individuals is responsible for most, if not all, of the abnormalities and clinical syndromes that constitute the IRS.

IMPROVING INSULIN SENSITIVITY WITH WEIGHT LOSS

Consideration of dietary approaches to attenuate the abnormalities and clinical syndromes related to the IRS should differentiate between efforts to enhance insulin sensitivity and changes aimed at minimizing its adverse consequences. In this context, there is substantial evidence that insulin sensitivity can be enhanced, and manifestations of the IRS improve when insulin-resistant individuals lose weight (9, 26, 30, 35, 37, 42, 45, 49, 50, 56, 58). In contrast, variations in macronutrient content of isocaloric diets have little, if any, impact on insulin sensitivity (5, 17, 20), and their benefits are limited primarily, if not entirely, to decreasing the adverse metabolic consequences of insulin resistance/hyperinsulinemia (49, 50). Thus, in this section, attention is focused on the ability of weight loss to improve insulin sensitivity, and thereby to attenuate the abnormalities associated with the IRS.

Weight Loss Can Improve Insulin Sensitivity

The results of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (28) indicated that more than 50% of those surveyed between 1988 and 1994 were overweight/obese, and the magnitude of this problem continues to increase. Although the gravity of the obesity epidemic is well appreciated, efforts to deal with it effectively are compromised by widespread pessimism concerning the ability to achieve sustained weight loss in overweight/obese individuals. The problem is further confounded by continuing controversies concerning the relative superiority of weight-loss diets that vary widely in their macronutrient content. In the absence of compelling evidence that compliance is greater with any specific macronutrient combination, other than the necessity that the individuals are willing and able to follow a diet containing less energy than they use, it does not seem possible to propose the "best" diet to help overweight/obese individuals with the IRS lose weight.

On the other hand, it is possible to address the fact that not all overweight/obese individuals are insulin resistant and at increased risk of developing the adverse consequences associated with the defect in insulin action. Prospective studies from our research group have indicated that the upper one-third of an apparently healthy population is sufficiently insulin resistant to develop the adverse clinical syndromes of the IRS, whereas those in the lower one-third of the population are at much less risk (13, 62). Although approximately 75% of individuals in the most insulin-resistant tertile are overweight/obese, 30% of those in the most insulin-sensitive tertile are also overweight/obese, and at low risk of the IRS (39). Thus, it seems sensible that the most intensive efforts at weight loss be initiated in those overweight/obese individuals who will benefit the most if the intervention is successful. Obviously, the first step in accomplishing that goal would be the ability to identify such individuals, and it appears that there is a relatively simple way to accomplish that task (36).

How to Identify Overweight/Obese Individuals Who Will Benefit the Most from Weight Loss

Because there is no simple clinical way to quantify insulin resistance, the alternative is to either initiate similar effort at weight loss in all overweight/obese persons, or to use surrogate estimates of insulin resistance to identify those who will benefit the most from weight loss. Health care professionals electing the second course usually rely on measurements of fasting plasma insulin (FPI) concentrations, or various formulae involving the use of both fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and insulin concentrations (HOMA-IR, QUICKI, FPG \times FPI, etc.) to identify insulin-resistant persons. FPI concentrations are reasonably predictive of direct measures of insulin resistance in nondiabetic individuals, but the relationship (r-value \sim 0.6) only accounts for \sim 36% of the variability in insulin action, and the use of the more complicated surrogate estimates of insulin action does not substantially increase the magnitude of the relationship (25, 61). More importantly, plasma

insulin measurements are not standardized, and it is not possible to interpret the clinical significance of values from one laboratory to another. We have shown in overweight/obese individuals that the plasma TG/HDL-C concentration ratio is as good a surrogate marker of insulin resistance as is FPI concentration; in addition, it can be used to identify individuals who have the atherogenic profile that characterizes the IRS and thereby are at increased risk of CVD (36). Based upon the results of these studies, we have suggested that an overweight/obese person with a TG/HDL-C concentration ratio (mg/dl) \geq 3.0 is highly likely to be both insulin resistant and at increased CVD risk; the higher the value, the less sensitive and the more specific the ratio, whereas values <3.0 increase sensitivity and lose specificity. This approach is certainly not perfect, but it does provide a way to decrease the number of overweight/obese individuals who meet the criteria for intensive weight loss efforts and to identify those who will benefit the most if weight loss can be accomplished.

Insulin-Resistant Individuals Can Lose Weight

Although there appears to be a perception that insulin-resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals cannot lose weight, several studies, performed in different ethnic groups, have indicated that insulin-resistant individuals, using either insulin concentrations as a surrogate measure of insulin resistance or direct measures of insulin-mediated glucose disposal, either gain the same weight, or less weight, over time (18, 23, 55, 57, 59, 63). Furthermore, the ability to lose weight in response to calorie-restricted diets does not vary as a function of differences in either insulin resistance or insulin secretion (35, 37, 38). Consequently, although it is very difficult to carry out successful weight loss programs, the impediment is not because the individual may be insulin resistant /hyperinsulinemic.

Benefits of Weight Loss in Insulin-Resistant Overweight/Obese Individuals

Studies published 30 years ago demonstrated that insulin sensitivity improved when nondiabetic overweight/obese individuals lost weight, which was associated with a decrease in the plasma insulin response to oral glucose and lower plasma TG concentrations (45). Similar improvements in insulin sensitivity have been demonstrated in several subsequent studies, and we have also shown that following moderate weight loss the slightly elevated daylong plasma glucose and FFA concentrations seen in nondiabetic, insulin-resistant, overweight individuals return to the values of equally overweight, insulin-sensitive person (35, 37, 38). However, although the daylong hyperinsulinemia that characterizes nondiabetic, overweight, insulin-resistant individuals also declines with weight loss, it does not fall to the level seen in insulin-sensitive, equally obese individuals (35, 37, 38). Similarly, C-reactive protein concentrations are higher in insulin-resistant than in insulin-sensitive individuals matched for adiposity, and although concentrations fall in association with weight loss in the insulin-resistant persons, they

do not reach the level seen in the insulin-sensitive subjects (37). Thus, a moderate amount of weight loss in insulin-resistant, overweight/obese individuals improves insulin sensitivity, resulting in changes in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and a marker of vascular inflammation that would decrease the risk of type 2 diabetes, CVD, and other clinical syndromes associated with the IRS.

EFFECT OF VARIATIONS IN MACRONUTRIENT CONTENT ON THE MANIFESTATIONS OF THE INSULIN-RESISTANCE SYNDROME

In contrast to the lack of compelling evidence showing that variations in macronutrient content affect the ability to lose weight, data concerning the metabolic effects of such manipulations in weight-maintenance diets are more consistent. In this section, the ability of changes in relative amounts and kinds of dietary CHO and fat to modify the abnormalities and clinical syndromes associated with the IRS is discussed.

Variations in Amount of Fat and Carbohydrate

Until relatively recently, the prudent diet recommended for all Americans contained (as percentages of total calories) approximately 15% protein, 25%–30% fat, and 55%–60% CHO; this approach was aimed at decreasing SF intake. The rationale for this recommendation was that it would help decrease CVD risk by maintaining the lowest possible plasma low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) concentration (15, 41).

Replacing SF with CHO in isocaloric diets requires that more insulin be secreted to maintain glucose homeostasis, and the more insulin resistant the individual, the greater will be the requisite degree of compensatory hyperinsulinemia. The additional CHO does not require a substantial increase in insulin secretion in order for insulin-sensitive persons to maintain glucose homeostasis, and low-fat/high-CHO diets will help maintain low LDL-C concentration in these individuals without adverse metabolic consequences. Although the beneficial effects of low-fat/high-CHO diets on LDL-C concentrations are not lost in insulin-resistant individuals, this dietary modification will have one of two effects in these persons, neither of which is desirable. If they are unable to respond to the need to secrete even more insulin, their ability to maintain normal glucose tolerance will be compromised. Alternatively, if they are capable of further increasing their degree of compensatory hyperinsulinemia, the abnormalities associated with the IRS (Table 1) will be accentuated, and the likelihood of developing one of the clinical syndromes listed in Table 2 will increase.

It is not possible within the context of this review to discuss all of the adverse consequences of low-fat/high-CHO diets in insulin-resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals. However, the relationship between CVD risk and the dyslipidemic changes of the IRS are well established, and there is considerable evidence of the metabolic effects of low-fat/high-CHO diets on lipoprotein metabolism in insulin-resistant individuals. Thus, a brief summary of these issues will hopefully serve the useful purpose of pointing out the dangers of replacing SF with CHO in the approximately one-third (13, 62) of the U.S. population that is sufficiently insulin resistant to be at increased risk of all of the adverse manifestations of the IRS.

TRIGLYCERIDE-RICH LIPOPROTEINS The fact that low-fat/high-CHO diets increase fasting plasma TG concentrations has been repeatedly confirmed since the pioneering studies by Ahrens and associates (4). Fasting hypertriglyceridemia is perhaps the most characteristic metabolic abnormality in insulin-resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals, and the ingestion of low-fat/high-CHO diets increases hepatic VLDL-TG synthesis and secretion, resulting in higher fasting TG concentrations in both nondiabetic individuals and in patients with type 2 diabetes (2, 14, 16, 40, 47, 53).

The original suggestion by Zilversmit (64) that atherogenesis is a postprandial phenomenon continues to gain support (31), and there is evidence that degree of postprandial lipemia is accentuated in insulin resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals (22, 24, 32, 33). Not surprisingly, there is also evidence that increasing dietary intake of CHO accentuates the postprandial accumulation of TG-rich lipoproteins (2, 7, 8, 24). Thus, the predictable effect of low fat-high CHO diets in insulin resistant and hyperinsulinemic individuals will be to both increase fasting plasma TG concentration, and accentuate the daylong accumulation of TG-rich remnant lipoproteins.

HIGH-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN CHOLESTEROL CONCENTRATION In light of evidence that there is an independent relationship between insulin resistance/hyperinsulinemia and HDL-C concentration (29), the conclusion from two meta-analyses (15, 41) that low-fat/high-CHO diets result in lower HDL-C concentrations is not unexpected. More controversial is whether the kind of fat affects HDL-C concentration. Thus, Mattson & Grundy (34) suggested some time ago that there was an accentuated decline in HDL-C concentrations when SF was replaced with polyunsaturated fat (PUF), as compared with substitution of SF with monounsaturated fat (MUF), whereas Howard and associates (19) were unable to confirm this observation. If the data from the meta-analyses (15, 41) are considered, it appears that the effect on HDL-C concentration is reasonably similar when either MUF or PUF replaces SF.

LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN CHOLESTEROL PARTICLE DIAMETER A study in 100 healthy volunteers (52) demonstrated that a highly significant inverse relationship exists between degree of insulin resistance and LDL particle diameter. The study also demonstrated that individuals with small, dense LDL (pattern B) are relatively insulin resistant, glucose intolerant, hyperinsulinemic, with higher TG and lower HDL-C concentrations, and elevated levels of blood pressure as compared

with individuals with a preponderance of larger LDL particles (pattern A). Given evidence that the appearance of small, dense LDL particles is one of the abnormalities that occurs more commonly in patients with the IRS, it is not surprising that the prevalence of pattern A is more common in patients on diets relatively high in fat, whereas conversion to pattern B is seen when the switch is made to a diet relatively high in CHO (10, 27, 60).

LOW-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN CHOLESTEROL CONCENTRATION There is abundant evidence that LDL-C concentrations will fall when SF is replaced with PUF or MUF (15, 41), and because differences in insulin resistance and/or hyperinsulinemia do not modulate LDL-C concentration, this effect will be similar in insulinresistant individuals. Furthermore, it has been shown (43) that the effect on LDL-C concentrations of diets containing ~20% versus ~40% of total fat was similar, as long as the ratios of polyunsaturated to saturated fat (P:S) were identical (1.0), as well as the n-3:n-6 ratio and the ratio of MUF to total fat. In other words, it appears that there may be little or no increase in LDL-C levels in response to the ingestion of more fat, as long as the fat is unsaturated. These data are congruent with the results of two large meta-analyses (15, 41), and seem to apply equally well to patients with type 2 diabetes (16, 17).

Variations in the Kind of Carbohydrate

Replacement of SF with MUF and/or PUF, rather than CHO, will lower LDL-C concentrations and will not lead to a significant increase in ambient plasma insulin concentrations and the manifestations of the IRS, thus providing a simple and useful dietary approach for patients with pure hypercholesterolemia, the IRS, or combined dyslipidemia. On the other hand, other dietary modifications have been suggested in order to limit the untoward metabolic consequences of the conventional low-fat/high-CHO diets.

For example, one suggestion aimed at avoiding the untoward effects of low-fat/high-CHO diets in patients with type 2 diabetes has been to vary the glycemic index of the CHO ingested, rather than to simply replace SF with unsaturated fat (UF) and reduce the CHO intake (21, 54). Alternatively, it has been suggested that the untoward effects of low-fat/high-CHO diets in patients with type 2 diabetes can be avoided by doubling the recommended fiber intake to 50 g/d (6). Even if it is assumed that patients would be willing to consume diets made up almost entirely of oranges (300 g/d), green peas (110 g/d), zucchini (195 g/d), papaya (250 g/d), peaches (300 g/d), fruit cocktail (200 g/d), and cherries (100 g/d), it did not appear that the improvement in daylong plasma glucose and insulin concentrations and fasting plasma lipid concentrations in this study (6) was as great as when a low-fat/high-CHO diet was compared with a diet in which MUF was increased and CHO decreased (16). Similarly, in a study in which the glycemic index was varied in low-fat/high-CHO diets (21), the improvements in daylong plasma glucose and insulin concentrations were also of lesser magnitude than the study in which the

CHO intake was reduced and the MUF intake increased (16). It is worth noting that the results of these two studies, in which either the fiber intake (6) or the glycemic index (21) was varied, indicated that estimates of insulin sensitivity and several aspects of lipoprotein metabolism improved on *both* the control and experimental diets, without any significant differences between them for many of the experimental variables measured. A more recent study (54) compared the metabolic effects of two diets that seemed to be approximately equal in fat and CHO intake, but differed in glycemic index. It was concluded that four weeks of the lower glycemic index diet led to a variety of benefits, including lower postprandial glucose and insulin concentrations and enhanced insulin sensitivity. Unfortunately, these values were also significantly lower at baseline when the lower glycemic diet was used, and measurements of diet-associated changes in insulin secretion and sensitivity did not show any consistent diet effect.

It is not clear from the available data whether the clinical utility of increasing the fiber content or decreasing the glycemic index of low-fat/high-CHO diets is preferable to simply replacing SF with UF and decreasing CHO intake. In order to resolve this question it is necessary to initiate studies in which these alternatives can be directly compared. In the absence of such information, it is argued that it is simpler, and at least as beneficial, to simply replace SF with UF, not CHO, and thereby avoid the adverse effects of low-fat/high-CHO intake.

SUMMARY

The most dramatic improvements in manifestations of IRS occur in overweight, insulin-resistant/hyperinsulinemic individuals when they lose weight. However, as long as the energy content is kept constant, there appears to be little, or no, evidence that low fat-/high CHO diets will directly improve insulin sensitivity. On the other hand, there is considerable evidence that isocaloric diets, low in fat and enriched in CHO, will accentuate the manifestations of the IRS. The more insulin resistant an individual, the greater is the amount of insulin that must be secreted in response to a CHO-enriched diet in order to maintain glucose homeostasis. Thus, the inevitable, and consistently replicated, effect of replacing SF with CHO in insulin-resistant individuals is to increase daylong concentration of glucose or insulin, or both. In addition, this dietary approach has consistently been shown to stimulate hepatic VLDL-TG synthesis and secretion, leading to an increase in concentration of TG-rich lipoproteins, both in the fasting and postprandial states. The increase in the ambient TG-rich lipoproteins seen following low-fat/high-CHO diets has previously been shown to be associated with a decrease in HDL-C concentration, and it appears that such diets will change the LDL subclass pattern to B in 36 of 87 individuals (41%) who had either pattern A or an intermediate pattern at the outset (27).

Given the evidence that low-fat/high-CHO diets do not modify the basic defect in the IRS (insulin resistance) and accentuate all of its metabolic manifestations, there seems to be little rationale for substituting SF with CHO. This is particularly true in light of the multiple observations that replacing SF with MUF or PUF, or both, will lead to the same fall in LDL-C concentrations, without any of the adverse metabolic effects seen with low-fat/high-CHO diets (15, 41).

Finally, the prevalence of the manifestations of the IRS is increasing rapidly as the world becomes heavier and less fit. There is considerable evidence that dietary manipulations can play a powerful role in modulating the manifestations of the IRS, as well as reasonably good understanding of interventions that either can be helpful or actually make the situation worse. Thus, inability of nutritional means to prevent and/or treat the manifestations of the IRS will result from a failure of implementation, not from a lack of clinically relevant information.

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at http://nutr.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abbasi F, Brown BWB, Lamendola C, McLaughlin T, Reaven GM. 2002. Relationship between obesity, insulin resistance, and coronary heart disease risk. J. Am. Coll. Card. 40:937–43
- Abbasi F, McLaughlin T, Lamendola C, Kim HS, Tanaka A, et al. 2000. High carbohydrate diets, triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, and coronary heart disease risk. Am. J. Cardiol. 85:45–48
- Abbasi F, McLaughlin T, Lamendola C, Reaven GM. 2000. The relationship between glucose disposal in response to physiological hyperinsulinemia and basal glucose and free fatty acid concentrations in healthy volunteers. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85:1251–54
- Ahrens EH, Hirsch J, Oette K, Farquahar JW, Stein Y. 1961. Carbohydrate-induced and fat-induced lipemia. *Trans. Assoc. Am. Phys.* 74:134–36
- Borkman M, Campbell LV, Chisholm DJ, Storlien LH. 1991. High-carbohydrate lowfat diets do not enhance insulin sensitivity in normal subjects. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 72:432–37
- Chandalia M, Garg A, Lutjohann D, von Bergmann K, Grundy SM, Brinkley L. 2002. Beneficial effects of high dietary fiber intake in patients with type 2 di-

- abetes mellitus. N. Engl. J. Med. 342: 1392–98
- Chen YD-I, Coulston AM, Zhou M-Y, Hollenbeck CB, Reaven GM. 1995. Why do low-fat high-carbohydrate diets accentuate postprandial lipemia in patients with NIDDM? *Diabetes Care* 18:10– 16
- Chen YD-I, Swami S, Skowronski R, Coulston AM, Reaven GM. 1993. Effect of variations in dietary fat and carbohydrate intake on postprandial lipemia in patients with noninsulin dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 76:347–51
- 9. Dixon JB, Bhathal PS, Hughes NR, O'Brien PE. 2004. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Improvement in liver histological analysis with weight loss. *Hepatology* 39:1647–54
- Dreon DM, Fernstrom HA, Miller B, Krauss RM. 1995. Apolipoprotein E isoform phenotype and LDL subclass response to a reduced-fat diet. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 15:105–11
- Dunaif A, Segal KR, Futterweit W, Dobrjansky A. 1989. Profound peripheral insulin resistance, independent of obesity, in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes* 38:1165–74

- Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (adult treatment panel III). 2002. JAMA 285:2846–97
- Facchini FS, Hua N, Abbasi F, Reaven GM. 2001. Insulin resistance as a predictor of age-related diseases. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86:3574–78
- Farquhar JW, Frank A, Gross RC, Reaven GM. 1966. Glucose, insulin, and triglyceride responses to high and low carbohydrate diets in man. J. Clin. Invest. 45:1648– 56
- Gardner CD, Kraemer HC. 1995. Monounsaturated versus polyunsaturated dietary fat and serum lipids—a meta-analysis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 15:1917– 27
- Garg A, Bantle JP, Henry RR, Coulston AM, Griver KA, et al. 1994. Effects of varying carbohydrate content of diet in patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *JAMA* 271:1421–28
- 17. Garg A, Grundy SM, Unger RH. 1992. Comparison of effects of high and low carbohydrate diets on plasma lipoproteins and insulin sensitivity in patients with mild NIDDM. *Diabetes* 41:1278–85
- Hoag S, Marshall JA, Jones RH, Hamman RF. 1995. High fasting insulin levels associated with lower rates of weight gain in persons with normal glucose tolerance: the San Luis Valley Diabetes Study. *Int. J. Obes.* 19:175–80
- 19. Howard BV, Hannah JS, Heiser CC, Jablonski KA, Paidi MC, et al. 1995. Polyunsaturated fatty acids result in greater cholesterol lowering and less triacylglycerol elevation than do monounsaturated fatty acids in a dose-response comparison in a multiracial study group. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 62:392–402
- Hughes VA, Fiatarone MA, Fielding RA, Ferrara CM, Elahi D, Evans WJ. 1995. Long-term effects of a high-carbohydrate diet and exercise on insulin action in older

- subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 62:426–33
- Jarvi AE, Karlstrom BE, Granfeldt YE, Bjorck IE, Asp N-GL, Vessby BOH. 1999.
 Improved glycemic control and lipid profile and normalized fibrinolytic activity on a low-glycemic index diet in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care* 22:10–18
- Jeppesen J, Hollenbeck CB, Zhou M-Y, Coulston AM, Jones C, et al. 1995.
 Relation between insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, postheparin plasma lipoprotein lipase activity, and postprandial lipemia. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 15:320–24
- Jones CNO, Abbasi F, Carantoni M, Polonsky KS, Reaven GM. 2000. Roles of insulin resistance and obesity in regulation of plasma insulin concentrations. *Am. J. Physiol.* 278:E504–8
- Kim H-S, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, McLaughlin T, Reaven GM. 2001. Effect of insulin resistance on postprandial elevations of remnant lipoprotein concentrations in postmenopausal women. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 74:592–95
- 25. Kim SH, Abbasi F, Reaven GM. 2004. Impact of degree of obesity on surrogate estimates of insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care* 27:1998–2002
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JL, et al. 2002. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N. Engl. J. Med. 346:393–403
- Krauss RM, Dreon DM. 1995. Low-density lipoprotein subclasses and responses to a low-fat diet in healthy man. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 62:478S–487S
- Kuczmarski RJ, Carroll MD, Flegal KM, Troiano RP. 1997. Varying body mass index cutoff points to describe overweight prevalence among U.S. adults: NHANES III (1988 to 1994). Obes. Res. 5(6): 542–48
- Laws A, Reaven GM. 1992. Evidence for an independent relationship between insulin resistance and fasting plasma

- HDL-cholesterol, triglyceride and insulin concentrations. *J. Int. Med.* 231:25–30
- Liu GC, Coulston AM, Lardinois CK, Hollenbeck CB, Moore JG, Reaven G. 1985.
 Moderate weight loss and sulfonylurea treatment of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Arch. Intern. Med. 145:665–69
- Mamo JCL. 1995. Atherosclerosis as a post-prandial disease. *Endocrinol. Metab.* 2:229–44
- 32. Masumi A, Tanaka A, Ogita K, Sekine M, Numano F, et al. 2000. Relationship between hyperinsulinemia and remnant lipoprotein concentrations in patients with impaired glucose tolerance. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 85:3557–60
- 33. Masumi A, Tanaka A, Ogita K, Sekine M, Numano F, et al. 2001. Relationship between plasma insulin concentration and plasma remnant lipoprotein response to an oral fat load in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 38:1628–32
- 34. Mattson FH, Grundy SM. 1985. Comparison of effects of dietary saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids on plasma lipids and lipoproteins in man. *J. Lipid. Res.* 26:194–202
- McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Carantoni M, Schaaf P, Reaven GM. 1999. Differences in insulin resistance do not predict weight loss in response to hypocaloric diets in healthy obese women. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 84:578–81
- McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Cheal K, Chu J, Lamendola C, Reaven G. 2003. Use of metabolic markers to identify overweight individuals who are insulin resistant. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 139:802–9
- McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Liang L, Reaven G, et al. 2002. Differentiation between obesity and insulin resistance in the association with C-reactive protein. Circulation 106:2908–12
- McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Kim H-S, Reaven GM. 2001. Metabolic changes following sibutramine-assisted weight loss in obese individuals: role of

- plasma free fatty acids in the insulin resistance of obesity. *Metabolism* 50:819–82
- McLaughlin T, Allison G, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Reaven G. 2004. Prevalence of insulin resistance and associated cardiovascular disease risk factors among normal weight, overweight, and obese individuals. Metabolism 53:495–99
- McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Yeni-Komshian H, Reaven G. 2000. Carbohydrate-induced hypertriglyceridemia: an insight into the link between plasma insulin and triglyceride concentrations. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 85:3085–88
- Mensink RP, Katan MB. 1992. Effect of dietary fatty acids on serum lipids and lipoproteins. *Arterioscler. Thromb*. 12: 911–19
- Moran LJ, Noakes M, Clifton PM, Tomlinson L, Galletly C, Norman RJ. 2003. Dietary composition in restoring reproductive and metabolic physiology in overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 88:812–19
- 43. Nelson GJ, Schmidt PC, Kelley DS. 1995. Low-fat diets do not lower plasma cholesterol levels in healthy men compared to high-fat diets with similar fatty acid composition at constant caloric intake. *Lipids* 30:969–76
- Olefsky JM, Farquhar JW, Reaven GM. 1974. Reappraisal of the role of insulin in hypertriglyceridemia. *Am. J. Med.* 57:551– 60
- Olefsky JM, Reaven GM, Farquhar JW. 1974. Effects of weight reduction on obesity: studies of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. J. Clin. Invest. 53:64–76
- Reaven GM. 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37:1595–607
- Reaven GM. 1996. Hypertriglyceridemia: the central feature of syndrome X. Cardiovasc. Risk Factors 6:29–35
- Reaven GM. 1997. The kidney: an unwilling accomplice in syndrome X. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 30:928–31

- 49. Reaven GM. 1997. Do high carbohydrate diets prevent the development or attenuate the manifestations (or both) of syndrome X? A viewpoint strongly against. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 8:23–27
- Reaven GM. 2000. Diet and syndrome X. Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 2:503–7
- 51. Reaven GM. 2004. The metabolic syndrome or the insulin resistance syndrome? Different names, different concepts, and different goals. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. N. Am.* 33:283–303
- Reaven GM, Chen Y-DI, Jeppesen J, Maheux P, Krauss RM. 1993. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia in individuals with small dense, low density lipoprotein particles. *J. Clin. Invest.* 92:141–46
- Reaven GM, Lerner R, Stern M, Farquhar JW. 1967. Role of insulin in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. *J. Clin. Invest.* 46:1756–67
- 54. Ruzkalla SW, Taghrid L, Laromiguiere M, Hueit D, Boillot J, et al. 2004. Improved plasma glucose control, whole-body glucose utilization, and lipid profile on a lowglycemic index diet in type 2 diabetic men. *Diabetes Care* 27:1866–72
- Schwartz MW, Boyko EJ, Kahn SE, et al. 1995. Reduced insulin secretion: an independent predictor of body weight gain.
 J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 80:1571–76
- Su H-Y, Sheu WH-H, Chin H-ML, Jeng C-Y, Chen Y-DI, Reaven GM. 1995. Effect of weight loss on blood pressure and insulin resistance in normotensive and hypertensive obese individuals. *Am. J. Hypertens*. 8:1067–71
- Swinburn BA, Nyomba BL, Saad MF, Zurlo F, Raz I, Knowler WC. 1991. Insulin resistance associated with lower rates

- of weight gain in Pima Indians. *J. Clin. Invest.* 88:168–73
- Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, et al. 2001. Prevention of type 2 diabetes by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N. Engl. J. Med. 344:1343–50
- Valdez R, Mitchell BD, Haffner SM, Hazuda HP, Morales PA, et al. 1994. Predictors of weight change in a bi-ethnic population. The San Antonio Heart Study. *Int. J. Obes.* 18:85–91
- 60. Williams PT, Dreon DM, Krauss RM. 1995. Effects of dietary fat on high-density lipoprotein subclasses are influenced by both apolipoprotein E isoforms and lowdensity lipoprotein subclass patterns. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 61:1234–40
- Yeni-Komshian H, Carantoni M, Abbasi F, Reaven GM. 2000. Relationship between several surrogate estimates of insulinresistance and quantification of insulinmediated glucose disposal in 490 healthy, nondiabetic volunteers. *Diabetes Care* 23: 171–75
- Yip J, Facchini FS, Reaven GM. 1998. Resistance to insulin-mediated glucose disposal as a predictor of cardiovascular disease. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83:2773

 76
- 63. Zavaroni I, Zuccarelli A, Gasparini P, Massironi P, Barilli A, Reaven GM. 1998. Can weight gain in healthy, nonobese volunteers be predicted by differences in baseline plasma insulin concentrations? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83:3498–500
- Zilversmit DB. 1979. Atherogenesis: a postprandial phenomenon. *Circulation* 60: 473–85



Contents

DIETARY FIBER: HOW DID WE GET WHERE WE ARE?, Martin Eastwood and David Kritchevsky	1
DEFECTIVE GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS DURING INFECTION, Owen P. McGuinness	9
HUMAN MILK GLYCANS PROTECT INFANTS AGAINST ENTERIC PATHOGENS, David S. Newburg, Guillermo M. Ruiz-Palacios, and Ardythe L. Morrow	37
NUTRITIONAL CONTROL OF GENE EXPRESSION: HOW MAMMALIAN CELLS RESPOND TO AMINO ACID LIMITATION, M.S. Kilberg, YX. Pan, H. Chen, and V. Leung-Pineda	59
MECHANISMS OF DIGESTION AND ABSORPTION OF DIETARY VITAMIN A, Earl H. Harrison	87
REGULATION OF VITAMIN C TRANSPORT, John X. Wilson	105
THE VITAMIN K-DEPENDENT CARBOXYLASE, Kathleen L. Berkner	127
VITAMIN E, OXIDATIVE STRESS, AND INFLAMMATION, <i>U. Singh</i> , <i>S. Devaraj, and Ishwarlal Jialal</i>	151
UPTAKE, LOCALIZATION, AND NONCARBOXYLASE ROLES OF BIOTIN, Janos Zempleni	175
REGULATION OF PHOSPHORUS HOMEOSTASIS BY THE TYPE IIa Na/Phosphate Cotransporter, <i>Harriet S. Tenenhouse</i>	197
SELENOPROTEIN P: AN EXTRACELLULAR PROTEIN WITH UNIQUE PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND A ROLE IN SELENIUM	215
HOMEOSTASIS, Raymond F. Burk and Kristina E. Hill ENERGY INTAKE, MEAL FREQUENCY, AND HEALTH: A NEUROBIOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE, Mark P. Mattson	213
REDOX REGULATION BY INTRINSIC SPECIES AND EXTRINSIC NUTRIENTS IN NORMAL AND CANCER CELLS,	
Archana Jaiswal McEligot, Sun Yang, and Frank L. Meyskens, Jr.	261
REGULATION OF GENE TRANSCRIPTION BY BOTANICALS: NOVEL REGULATORY MECHANISMS, Neil F. Shay and William J. Banz	297

POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACID REGULATION OF GENES OF LIPID METABOLISM, <i>Harini Sampath and James M. Ntambi</i>	317
SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS THAT INFLUENCE LIPID METABOLISM: INTERACTION WITH DIETARY FACTORS, Dolores Corella and Jose M. Ordovas	341
THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME: DEFINITION AND DIETARY APPROACHES TO TREATMENT, Gerald M. Reaven	391
DEVELOPMENTAL DETERMINANTS OF BLOOD PRESSURE IN ADULTS, Linda Adair and Darren Dahly	407
PEDIATRIC OBESITY AND INSULIN RESISTANCE: CHRONIC DISEASE RISK AND IMPLICATIONS FOR TREATMENT AND PREVENTION BEYOND BODY WEIGHT MODIFICATION, M.L. Cruz, G.Q. Shaibi, M.J. Weigensberg, D. Spruijt-Metz, G.D.C. Ball, and M.I. Goran	435
Annual Lipid Cycles in Hibernators: Integration of Physiology and Behavior, <i>John Dark</i>	469
DROSOPHILA NUTRIGENOMICS CAN PROVIDE CLUES TO HUMAN GENE-NUTRIENT INTERACTIONS, Douglas M. Ruden, Maria De Luca, Mark D. Garfinkel, Kerry L. Bynum, and Xiangyi Lu	499
THE COW AS A MODEL TO STUDY FOOD INTAKE REGULATION, Michael S. Allen, Barry J. Bradford, and Kevin J. Harvatine	523
THE ROLE OF ESSENTIAL FATTY ACIDS IN DEVELOPMENT, William C. Heird and Alexandre Lapillonne	549
Indexes	
Subject Index Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 21–25 Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 21–25	573 605 608
Errata	

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Nutrition* chapters may be found at http://nutr.annualreviews.org/